
         

 

 

BLUE LAKE 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

DISTRICT 
 

LEE COUNTY 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING 

NOVEMBER 12, 2024 
3:00 P.M. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Special District Services, Inc. 
The Oaks Center 

2501A Burns Road 
Palm Beach Gardens, FL 33410 

www.bluelakecdd.org 
561.630.4922 Telephone 
877.SDS.4922 Toll Free 
561.630.4923 Facsimile 



AGENDA 
BLUE LAKE 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
WildBlue Social Building 

18721 WildBlue Boulevard 
Fort Myers, Florida 33913 

Call-In Phone:  877-402-9753  Passcode: 1811087 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING 

November 12, 2024 
3:00 P.M. 

 
A. Call to Order 

B. Proof of Publication………………………………………………………………………………..Page 1 

C. Seat New Board Members 

D. Administer Oath of Office & Review Board Member Responsibilities and Duties 

E. Establish Quorum 

F. Additions or Deletions to Agenda 

G. Approval of Minutes  

1. September 10, 2024 Regular Board Meeting…………………………………………………..Page 2 

H. New Business 

1. Presentation on How the Drainage System Functions 

2. Consider Resolution No. 2024-09 – Adopting a Fiscal Year 2023/2024 Amended Budget…...Page 7 

I. Old Business 

1. Presentation of Lake Bank Repair Costs………………………………………………………..Page 11 

J. Auditor Selection Committee 

1. Ranking of Proposals/Consider Selection of an Auditor……………………………………….Page 21 

K. Administrative Matters 

1. Manager’s Report 

 Financials…………………………………………………………………………………...Page 45 

2. Engineer’s Report 

3. Attorney’s Report 

 Contribution & Release Agreement from Lennar Process 

 Ratification of Taylor Engineering Engagement and Retainer……………………………..Page 48 

L. Comments from the Public for Items Not on the Agenda 

M. Board Members Comments 

N. Adjourn 



Page 1



 

Page 1 of 4 
 

BLUE LAKE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

REGULAR BOARD MEETING  
SEPTEMBER 10, 2024 

 
 
A. CALL TO ORDER 
 
The September 10, 2024, Regular Board Meeting of the Blue Lake Community Development District 
(the “District”) was called to order at 3:02 p.m. in the WildBlue Social Building located at 18721 
WildBlue Boulevard, Fort Myers, Florida 33966. 
 
B. PROOF OF PUBLICATION 
 
Proof of publication was presented which showed that notice of the Regular Board Meeting had been 
published in the Naples Daily News on September 29, 2023, as part of the District’s Fiscal Year 
2023/2024 Meeting Schedule, as legally required.  
 
C.  ESTABLISH A QUORUM 
 
It was determined that the attendance of the following Board Members constituted a quorum: 
 
Chairman Chris Hasty  Present 
Vice Chairman Scott Edwards  Present 
Supervisor Matthew Shorey  Present 
Supervisor David Bello Present 
Supervisor Mark Rapponotti Present 

 
Also present were the following Staff Members: 
 
District Manager Kathleen Meneely Special District Services, Inc. 
District Counsel Wes Haber (via phone) Kutak Rock LLP 
District Engineer Carl Barraco (via phone) Barraco and Associates, Inc. 
District Engineer Frank Savage Barraco and Associates, Inc. 

 
Also present were: 
 
Jim Kane, Jim Spalding, James Towgood, Steve Hamburger, Marc & Sydell Nusbaum, David Geddeis, 
Bob Szymkowski, John Reis, Kevin Koger, Ben & Diane Mashioff, Donald Bobrow, Eileen & Dominic 
Sacca, Bob McCormick, Wayne Petterson, Nelson Cheverier and other residents via phone. 
 
D.  ADDITIONS OR DELETIONS TO AGENDA 
 
Ms. Meneely requested the addition of Consider Gurley Fant Representation Letter.  There was a 
consensus of the Board to add this item under New Business. 
 
Mr. Hasty requested the addition of a Discussion on Pending Lennar Proposal Letter.  There was a 
consensus of the Board to also add this item under New Business. 
 
E. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

Page 2



 

Page 2 of 4 
 

 1.  August 13, 2024, Public Hearing & Regular Board Meeting 
 
A motion was made by Mr. Bello, seconded by Mr. Edwards and passed unanimously approving the 
minutes of the August 13, 2024, Public Hearing & Regular Board Meeting, as presented. 
 
F. OLD BUSINESS 
  1.  Update on Repair Design Status 
 
Mr. Savage gave a background stating that they were doing pricing and refining sections.  He stated that 
he anticipated having a report by the next Board meeting.  Mr. Savage distributed a preliminary draft for 
discussion purposes and noted that nothing presented was binding at this point.  He explained that what 
was shown would need a limited review development order and reasonably timed permitting in the north 
area, noting that the entire area was not damaged. 
 
Mr. Spaulding stated that he appreciated the developer wanting to talk about repairs but we don’t have 
an estimate of costs yet.  Mr. Hasty explained that the direction of the Board was to figure out what the 
alternative repair was going to be and that he does not have details of the developer’s forthcoming 
proposal.  Discussion ensued regarding categories of storms and that there were no codes for walls to 
that criteria.  
 
Mr. Bello asked about the breakwater location and Mr. Savage noted that the original order being 8 feet 
clear and spanning out 15 feet.  He added that he would have to confirm sufficient littoral shelves be 
consistent with the original development order.  There was general discussion about original plans, the 
unique conditions of the area including that it is used as a recreational lake.   
 
G.  NEW BUSINESS 
  1.  Discussion Regarding HOA Letter 
 
Ms. Meneely noted that a letter was received from the HOA detailing that a meeting was held with the 
HOA to discuss a non-disclosure agreement proposed by Lennar.  Mr. Reis noted that the outcome of 
the meeting was that the residents prefer that Lennar deal directly with the CDD.  Mr. Hasty stated that 
he believed Lennar was going to propose something, but he does not have details.   
 
  2.  Consider Appointment of Audit Committee and Approval of Evaluation Criteria 
 
Ms. Meneely explained that this process was undertaken every few years. There was discussion to 
appoint themselves as the audit committee and to approve the evaluation criteria. 
 
A motion was made by Mr. Edwards, seconded by Mr. Shorey and passed unanimously appointing the 
entire District Board as the Audit Committee and approving the Evaluation Criteria, as presented. 
 
  3.  Consider Gurley Fant Representation Letter 
 
Mr. Haber went over the letter noting that the name of the firm had changed but recommending they 
continue to be retained for discussions with Lennar and any proposals.  He noted that he believed the 
fees were the same. 
 
After discussion, a motion was made by Mr. Edwards, seconded by Mr. Bello and passed unanimously 
approving the agreement provided that there is no rate change. 

Page 3



 

Page 3 of 4 
 

  4.  Discussion Regarding Pending Lennar Proposal Letter 
 
Mr. Haber stated that he had received a call from Lennar’s counsel that a proposal would soon be 
provided to facilitate repairs to the lake banks but he has little detail as to the funding amount.  He 
suggested that the meeting be continued to a date certain so that the proposal could be quickly considered 
once received.  There was consensus of the Board to do so.   
 
H. ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS 
  1.  Manager’s Report 

 
 Financials 

  
Ms. Meneely went over the financials.  There were no questions. 
 
Ms. Meneely reminded the Board that their next meeting was scheduled for October 8, 2024. 
 
 2.  Engineer’s Report 
   a.  Inspection Presentation/Observation Report & Recommendations 
 
Mr. Savage explained that inspections were performed in various areas where requests had been received 
for issues during the summer months.   He stated that the findings were memorialized in a report included 
in the agenda and several require Board direction.   He went over several rear yard drainage issues noting 
which were recovering as intended and which needed remediation.  He noted that four structures had 
sediment accumulation and in the future, inspections should be proactively planned by the Board.  He 
continued that two residences, 14643 and 14871 Blue Bay Circle were recommended for immediate 
action and stated that the work was quoted at $7,760 and $8,899 respectively. 
 
Mr. Edwards stated that it seemed like an excessive cost to build back the berm and Mr. Barraco noted 
that it was anticipated that small equipment and handwork would be necessary.  Mr. Edwards stated that 
he would take the lead on the repairs and get more quotes. 
 
After further discussion, a motion was made by Mr. Hasty, seconded by Mr. Rapponotti and passed 
unanimously authorizing Mr. Edwards to proceed on the repairs and sign an agreement at a not-to exceed 
cost of $13,000 for the two locations. 
 
Mr. Hasty requested that a silt fence be put up this week and further suggested that the engineer put 
together a routine schedule of inspections and come back to the Board with a scope.  Mr. Kane asked if 
accumulation of water was normal and Mr. Savage stated that it was, as the inlets are connected to the 
swale and they recovered after a period of time after a large event.   Mr. Hasty added that the normal 
recovery period is 24 hours and Mr. Kane reiterated that the drains should be inspected regularly.   
 
Mr. McCormick stated that every house had small drains and many have been covered by the landscaper. 
Dr. Hamburger suggested the CDD ask Lennar to take a look at these areas and Mr. Edwards stated that 
if there were specific locations to let the Board know, as grass can take over.  Mr. Patterson noted that 
the Hancock property had the wall completely gone and there was a dark hole behind it, as visible on 
Google Earth, believing it may be a sink hole.  Mr. Edwards stated he could look at it if a contact is 
provided.  
 
 3.  Attorney’s Report 

Page 4



 

Page 4 of 4 
 

 
Mr. Haber had nothing further. 
 
I.  COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC FOR ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA 
 
Mr. Cheverier asked if a response had been received regarding the removal of three dead trees in back 
of his home at 14493 Blue Bay.  Ms. Meneely stated that she had reported them to SFWMD and would 
check to find out if they have scheduled the inspection. 
 
J. BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS 
 
There were no further comments from Board Members. 
 
K. ADJOURNMENT 
 
After discussion, a motion was made at 5:21 p.m. by Mr. Edwards, seconded by Mr. Bello and passed 
unanimously to continue the meeting to September 24, 2024, at 3:00 p.m. at the same location for the 
purpose of discussing the Lennar proposal, if received in a timely manner. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
________________________________   _________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary     Chairperson/Vice-Chair 
 
 
 

Page 5



 RESOLUTION NO. 2024-09  
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
BLUE LAKE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
AUTHORIZING AND ADOPTING AN AMENDED FINAL FISCAL 
YEAR 2023/2024 BUDGET (“AMENDED BUDGET”), PURSUANT 
TO CHAPTER 189, FLORIDA STATUTES; AND PROVIDING AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the Blue Lake Community Development 
District (“District”) is empowered to provide a funding source and to impose special assessments 
upon the properties within the District; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, the District has prepared for consideration and approval an Amended 
Budget. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
OF THE BLUE LAKE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT, THAT: 
  

                  Section 1. The Amended Budget for Fiscal Year 2023/2024 attached hereto as 
Exhibit “A” is hereby approved and adopted. 

 
 Section 2. The Secretary/Assistant Secretary of the District is authorized to execute 

any and all necessary transmittals, certifications or other acknowledgements or writings, as 
necessary, to comply with the intent of this Resolution. 

 
 

PASSED, ADOPTED and EFFECTIVE this 12th  day of November, 2024. 
 

 

ATTEST: BLUE LAKE 
 COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
 
 
 
 
By:  By:  
 Secretary/Assistant Secretary Chairperson/Vice Chairperson 
 
 

Page 6



 Blue Lake
  Community Development District

    Amended Final Budget For
   Fiscal Year 2023/2024

   October 1, 2023 - September 30, 2024

Page 7



Page 8



Page 9



Page 10



PREPARED FOR: BLUE LAKE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

 
District Office ꞏ 2501 Burns Rd, Suite A ꞏ Palm Beach Gardens, FL 33410 

P a g e  1  o f  6  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Project Manual  
for 

Blue Lake Recreational Lake Bank Hurricane Ian Restoration 
Phase 1 – Rip-rap Breakwater  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prepared by: 
 

 
 
 

 
2271 McGregor Boulevard 

Suite 100 
Fort Myers, Florida 33901 

 
 
 
  

Page 11



PREPARED FOR: BLUE LAKE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

 
District Office ꞏ 2501 Burns Rd, Suite A ꞏ Palm Beach Gardens, FL 33410 

 

 P a g e  2  o f  6  

The Blue Lake Community Development District (herein, the “District” or “CDD”), located in Lee 
County, Florida, is the responsible entity for the perpetual operation and maintenance of a storm water 
management/ recreational lake within the boundary of the District. The recreational lake’s banks are 
stabilized in part by a retaining wall which experienced significant damage during the Hurricane Ian 
storm event on September 28, 2022. Additional damage to portions of the lake bank have occurred 
during subsequent storm events, including recent named storms Hurricane Helene (September 26, 
2024) and Hurricane Milton (October 9, 2024).  

At the most recent Board of Supervisors (herein, the “BOS”) meeting for the District, held on September 
10, 2024, the BOS authorized Barraco and Associates, Inc. (herein, the “District Engineer”) to prepare 
this draft Project Manual to consider the first phase of restoration to these lake banks, as described as 
Phase 1 – Rip-Rap Breakwater. This draft Project Manual is for informational and discussion purposes 
only and is not sufficient for bidding or construction. Cummins Cederberg, a marine engineering firm, 
has previously been contracted by the District to provide an alternative needs analysis, and information 
provided within that report has been utilized within this Project Manual.  

The rip-rap breakwater (the “Project”) is neither designed nor permitted at this time. The District 
Engineer shall not directly design the Project; if authorized, a marine engineering consultant, such as 
Cummins Cederberg or another qualified firm (herein, the “Design Engineer”), will provide all required 
design information (e.g. construction plans and technical specifications) for the Project. The District 
Engineer may assist in obtaining local approvals that may be required to authorize construction of the 
Phase 1 Project as currently being considered. 

Note there are two separate entities, the Blue Lake CDD and the WildBlue CDD, that are responsible 
for similarly impacted lake banks within their respective boundaries of each District as described 
herein, but there is reasonable consideration of potential benefits (e.g. an economy of scale savings) if 
the projects are coordinated under a single agreement, therefore for the purpose of this Project Manual, 
the project limits encompass both lakes. Maps have been prepared intending to document those 
locations of the retaining wall structurally damaged by Hurricane Ian and to define the approximate 
Phase 1 limits and are provided as exhibits herein as Exhibit 1A: Blue Lake CDD Retaining Wall 
Damage Exhibit and Exhibit 1B: WildBlue CDD Retaining Wall Damage Exhibit. These 

maps do not depict any additional damage occurring since the Hurricane Ian storm event, including 
the recent Hurricanes Helene and Milton, however for the purpose of this draft Project Manual, there 
is no reason to believe the existing conditions vary considerably from the conditions indicated herein 
on these maps. 

The goal of the Project is to provide more immediate protection against potential wave action for those 
areas most currently exposed and compromised due to the prior impacts, hence generally the northern 
banks of each lake. The proposed breakwater is considered as an initial phase of restoration for large 
portions of the lakes that ultimately may receive additional restoration work. The intent is for the 

Page 12



PREPARED FOR: BLUE LAKE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

 
District Office ꞏ 2501 Burns Rd, Suite A ꞏ Palm Beach Gardens, FL 33410 

 

 P a g e  3  o f  6  

breakwater to remain in place in perpetuity and serve as additive protection to any further restoration 
work that may be considered in the future over these areas (i.e. future phases of restoration). 

This Project Manual generally considers the following: 

 the general design considerations and assumptions for the rip-rap breakwater, including 
availability and source of sufficient quantities of stone of adequate size; 

 the means and methods by which the breakwater would be accessed and installed, as the 
development is essentially built-out and the majority of the lake bank is now encumbered by 
homes; 

 the estimated timing once mobilized and established rough overall cost; 

 additional considerations, insights and assumptions. 

General Design Considerations and Assumptions 

The information provided by Cummins Cederberg has been used as the basis to develop a draft typical 
cross-section for the rip-rap breakwater. From the typical section, it is estimated the breakwater will be 
designed to approximately three feet above control elevation. Assuming a typical 1’-wide top, and 
downslopes at a typical 1:1 sloping, the expected cross-sectional area of the rip-rap breakwater is 
calculated at approximately 12 square feet. The total length of the Phase 1 restoration work between the 
two sites is approximately 4 miles (roughly 20,000 feet). Applying the estimated cross-sectional area 
of the rip-rap breakwater to the anticipated length of Phase 1 restoration limits generates a volume of 
rip-rap of approximately 9,000 cubic yards of sufficiently sized rip-rap. Exhibits 1A and 1B depict, 
amongst other features, the typical cross-section and approximate Phase 1 limits as outlined above. 

The final variations in acceptable rip-rap size shall be specified by the Design Engineer, however for the 
purpose of this Project Manual, it is assumed the composition shall be blended between two sizes of 
rip-rap, with approximately 2/3 of the overall composition comprising larger stones (1’ – 3’ in diameter) 
and approximately 1/3 of the overall composition comprising smaller stones (6” – 12” in diameter). The 
larger stones are generally intended to absorb the impacts of the wave action generated by a significant 
storm event while the smaller stones are intended to fill the voids between the larger stones, and thus 
provide greater stabilization to the breakwater itself.  

Regarding the availability and source of sufficient quantities of stone of adequate size, two potential 
sources of stone have been identified in close proximity to the Project. The information on timing and 
cost presented herein assumes current sources are adequate and available for the Project; changes to 
source and availability could have significant impact to the actual timing and costs based on various 
factors, including but not limited to the demand of other restoration projects in the area requiring 

Page 13



PREPARED FOR: BLUE LAKE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

 
District Office ꞏ 2501 Burns Rd, Suite A ꞏ Palm Beach Gardens, FL 33410 

 

 P a g e  4  o f  6  

similar materials, the anticipated trucking distance from the source to the site, and the cost of fuel at 
the time of transport.  

Means and Methods 

The means and methods considered herein assume strictly working from the shoreline and without 
requiring the use of a barge. As such, the use of a barge is not incorporated into the timing and cost as 
outlined below. Should there be circumstances in which a barge is required, this will impact the overall 
timing and cost. 

Based on communication with local contractors, the work will be performed using standard heavy 
construction equipment, however there is limited direct access to the restoration areas, as the 
development is essentially built-out and most of the lake bank is now encumbered by homes. Therefore, 
multiple staging areas will be required for storage of materials and equipment, as well as access from 
those staging areas along CDD authorized properties to the full project limits. Exhibits 1A and 1B depict, 
amongst other features, the locations and dimensions, as necessary, for potential staging areas and 
access locations. It is noted that some work may be required outside the limits of CDD easements 
and/or ownership, and as applicable, this work may require homeowner consent. 

The preparation and installation efforts required for completion of the Project may and likely will 
require coordinated efforts from various parties, including the Master and Amenity Associations, as 
well as private homeowners, as the work may require temporary road closures, restrictions and/or 
limitations to certain amenity areas, and access/restoration over private lots.  

Timing and Cost 

Once mobilized, the overall project timing will be influenced by many factors, as described throughout 
this Project Manual and not restated herein. For the purpose of this Project Manual, it is assumed the 
average daily rate of breakwater installation will be an estimated 100 feet per day. Therefore, it is 
anticipated that once commenced, the construction timeframe would be approximately 40 – 50 weeks, 
or 9 – 12 months (assuming 5-day work weeks). It is not recommended that work be performed during 
wet season; therefore, it is anticipated this work may require multiple dry seasons to complete. 
Accordingly, it is recommended, if authorized, that the District Engineer work jointly with the Design 
Engineer, District Management and the contractor to develop and update, as frequently as warranted, 
prioritization efforts (e.g. project schedule) indicating the approximate locations and installation dates 
of the breakwater throughout the entire timeframe of the Project until completion. 

Similar to timing, the overall cost of the Project will be influenced by many factors, as described 
throughout this Project Manual and not restated herein. For the purpose of this Project Manual, an 
order of magnitude unit price (per linear foot) of the installed rip-rap breakwater is estimated at $200 
per foot. Therefore, it is estimated the overall cost of the Project will be in the magnitude of $4,000,000 
($1,200,000 for the Blue Lake CDD portion and $2,800,000 for the WildBlue CDD portion). This order 

Page 14



PREPARED FOR: BLUE LAKE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

 
District Office ꞏ 2501 Burns Rd, Suite A ꞏ Palm Beach Gardens, FL 33410 

 

 P a g e  5  o f  6  

of magnitude cost estimate includes pricing sources for materials based on local contractor sources, last 
updated in February 2024. This source information is generally updated annually; therefore, it is 
anticipated that current source pricing may be updated around February 2025. 

The timing and cost information outlined above assumes reasonable contingencies (20% to 25%) to 
account for considerable unknowns referenced throughout this Project Manual. These contingencies 
are accounted for within the estimates provided above and, in our opinion, represent reasonable efforts 
to account for those various unknowns. 

Additional Considerations 

The rip-rap breakwater considered within the scope of the Project is intended to provide shoreline 
protection against future storm events, however it is reasonable to expect that the rip-rap breakwater, 
if installed, will require observations following significant storm events to determine the extent to 
which, if any, the placed rip-rap may have shifted or dispersed due to storm conditions, which may 
undermine the intention of the breakwater if not addressed. Therefore, if authorized by the District, it 
is recommended that operation and maintenance procedures are established for the breakwater and 
adopted by the District. 

Additionally, it is possible that some of the damaged retaining wall landward of the proposed rip-rap 
breakwater may be salvageable; however, it is reasonable that portions of the damaged wall may 
currently be providing some level of shoreline protection, and it may be in the District’s interest for 
those portions to remain in place until a permanent solution for the long-term stabilization of these 
lake banks is determined. Therefore, during installation of the rip-rap breakwater it is recommended 
the District identify and safely remove and dispose of only those portions of the retaining wall that are 
currently serving no benefit to the stability of the lake banks, or appear to be a safety hazard, while 
allowing those remaining stable portions of the retaining wall to remain in place.  

Examples of conditions associated with portions of the existing improvements that should remain in 
place may include: the improvements appear to be in place and stable; the improvements are providing 
some level of shoreline protection; the improvements do not appear to be a public safety hazard. 

Examples of conditions associated with portions of the existing improvements that should be removed 
and disposed of may include: the improvements are not securely fastened or are fully detached; the 
improvements appear to be providing little to no shoreline protection; the improvements appear to be 
a public safety hazard. 

It may be reasonable that this removal be considered by the contractor performing the installation of 
the rip-rap breakwater to minimize the footprint impacted by the joint efforts and potentially to 
decrease the overall cost of the clean-up operation. During the time of any clean-up operation, the 
District Engineer or his representative can be available to the contractor if or when a formal 
determination is required on whether a section of the existing improvements shall remain in place or 

Page 15



PREPARED FOR: BLUE LAKE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

 
District Office ꞏ 2501 Burns Rd, Suite A ꞏ Palm Beach Gardens, FL 33410 

 

 P a g e  6  o f  6  

be removed and disposed of. The costs associated with this clean-up operation would be in addition to 
the order of magnitude cost estimate provided previously herein. 

Some additional considerations that may be communicated to the contractor performing installation of 
the rip-rap breakwater are as follows: 

 The contractor shall access and perform all work within the dedicated lake maintenance 
easements and adjacent tracts; notwithstanding any easements, no work shall occur on privately 
owned property without proper consent of the property owner. Exhibits 1A and 1B depict, 
amongst other features, the locations and dimensions, as necessary, for those easements and 
tracts.  

 Amongst other purposes, the lakes serve as recreational use for residents within the Districts, 
and accordingly, the contractor shall ensure all existing recreational structures within or 
adjacent to the lake area, such as docks, remain undisturbed in their existing condition. 

 All exposed utilities should be protected in place, and the contractor should notify the District 
Engineer of any utilities that may be in conflict as needed. 

 Temporary erosion and pollution control measures, as warranted, shall be the responsibility of 
the contractor, and shall be acceptably maintained by the Contractor during the time that 
construction work is being done. 

 The contractor is responsible for re-sodding of all disturbed areas in kind species of sodding. 
These costs should be included in their bid and no additional pay should be made for sodding or  
restoration of other existing conditions. 

 

Page 16



Page 17



PREPARED FOR

PROJECT DESCRIPTION

FILE NAME

LOCATION

PLOT DATE

23685_RETAINING-WALL-PHASING-EXHIBI

J:\23685\DWG\CDD\RET WALL CERT\

TUE. 11-5-2024 - 8:28 AM

LEE COUNTY, FLORIDA

BLUE
LAKE
CDD

BLUE LAKE
COMMUNITY

DEVELOPMENT
DISTRICT

THIS PLAN IS PRELIMINARY AND
INTENDED FOR CONCEPTUAL
PLANNING PURPOSES ONLY.

SITE LAYOUT AND LAND USE
INTENSITIES OR DENSITIES MAY
CHANGE SIGNIFICANTLY BASED
UPON SURVEY, ENGINEERING,

ENVIRONMENTAL AND / OR
REGULATORY CONSTRAINTS

AND / OR OPPORTUNITIES.

PLOT BY

CROSS REFERENCED DRAWINGS

2271 McGREGOR BLVD., SUITE 100
POST OFFICE DRAWER 2800

FORT MYERS, FLORIDA 33902-2800
PHONE (239) 461-3170

FORT MYERS | PANAMA CITY BEACH

CIVIL ENGINEERING - LAND SURVEYING
LAND PLANNING

FLORIDA CERTIFICATES OF AUTHORIZATION
ENGINEERING 7995 - SURVEYING LB-6940

ALYSSA FONTAINE

CROSS REFERENCED DRAWINGSCROSS REFERENCED DRAWINGS

C

DRAWING NOT VALID WITHOUT SEAL, SIGNATURE AND DATE

COPYRIGHT 2024, BARRACO AND ASSOCIATES, INC.
REPRODUCTION, CHANGES OR ASSIGNMENTS ARE PROHIBITED

(DRAFT) EXHIBIT FOR BOS MEETING
2024-11-12

SHEET NUMBER

PLAN REVISIONS

PLAN STATUS

PROJECT / FILE NO.

1.0

BLUE LAKE CDD
RETAINING WALL
DAMAGE EXHIBIT

23685

N

S

W E

0 200 400 800

SCALE IN FEET

LEGEND:

PHASE 1 AND 2

RETAINING WALL DAMAGE

MAJOR RETAINING WALL DAMAGE
(MAY REQUIRE TEMP. STABILIZATION)

PHASING NOTES:

THE FOLLOWING IS THE ANTICIPATED PHASING FOR THE VISTABLUE RETAINING WALL
RESTORATION PROJECT, AS GENERALLY DESCRIBED BELOW AND VISUALLY DEPICTED HEREIN.
THE INFORMATION PRESENTED IN THIS EXHIBIT IS PROVIDED FOR DISCUSSION PURPOSES ONLY
AND IS NOT INTENDED TO BE BINDING IN ANY WAY.

PHASE 1:  RIP-RAP BREAKWATER OVER THE NORTHERN PORTION, WHICH WAS GENERALLY 
   DAMAGED BY HURRICANE IAN. WORK WOULD OCCUR WATERWARD OF DAMAGED 
   RETAINING WALL, WHICH WOULD REMAIN IN PLACE, OR BE REMOVED AS WARRANTED.

PHASE 2:  RESTORATION OF THOSE AREAS OF DAMAGED RETAINING WALL OVER THE NORTHERN
PORTION, AS NEEDED, WITH ONE OF FOUR OPTIONS (RESTORATION OF EXISTING
RETAINING WALL, ENHANCED RETAINING WALL WITH TOE STONE, ROCK REVETMENT OR
LIVING SHORELINE). TYPICAL SECTIONS DEPICTING THESE OPTIONS ARE PROVIDED
HEREIN FOR INFORMATIONAL PURPOSES ONLY AND ARE BASED ON CONCEPTUAL
DESIGNS PREVIOUSLY PREPARED BY CUMMINS CEDERBERG. WORK WOULD OCCUR
LANDWARD OF THE RIP-RAP BREAKWATER (COMPLETED IN PHASE 1), WHICH WOULD
REMAIN IN PLACE FOR ADDITIONAL PROTECTION.

PHASE 3:  RETAINING WALL CAP REPLACEMENT AND/OR TOE STONE ADDITION OVER THE 
   SOUTHERN PORTION, WHICH WAS GENERALLY UNDAMAGED BY HURRICANE IAN.

PHASE 3

TOTAL LENGTH OF PHASE = 6,064 L.F.
TOTAL RETAINING WALL DAMAGE = 2,806 L.F.
TOTAL MAJOR RETAINING WALL DAMAGE = 523 L.F.

TOTAL LENGTH OF PHASE = 11,270 L.F.
TOTAL RETAINING WALL DAMAGE = 0 L.F.
TOTAL MAJOR RETAINING WALL DAMAGE = 0 L.F.

SEE SHEET 1.1

SEE SHEET 1.2

TYPICAL SECTION

EX. GRADE

20' MIN. MAINT. ACCESS

EX. CONC. DEADMAN
(SPACING UNKNOWN)

EX. BERM EL. VARIES

VARIES

2.0' MIN.

VARIES

EX. RETAINING WALL

EX. LAKE SLOPE TO REMAIN

MATCH EX. GRADE

PLACE RIP-RAP BREAKWATER
AT 1:1 SLOPE

VARIES

(8' MIN.)EX. LAKE

RIP-RAP BREAKWATER (PHASE 1)
N.T.S.

3' MIN.

LAKE C.E. = 19.3' NAVD8

MATCH EX. GRADE

EX. GRADE

RESIDENTIAL20' MIN. MAINT. ACCESS

EX. BERM EL. VARIES

VARIES

2.0' MIN.

VARIES

NEW HELICAL ANCHOR

OPTION #2 ENHANCED RETAINING WALL WITH TOE STONE
N.T.S.

EX. LAKE SLOPE TO REMAIN

MATCH EX. GRADE

PLACE RIP-RAP BREAKWATER
AT 1:1 SLOPE

VARIES

(8' MIN.)EX. LAKE

LAKE C.E. = 19.3' NAVD8

3' MIN.

NEW COMPOSITE
RETAINING WALL

MATCH EX. GRADE
TOE STONE

NEW CONC. CAP

EX. GRADE

RESIDENTIAL20' MIN. MAINT. ACCESS

EX. CONC. DEADMAN
(SPACING UNKNOWN)
TO BE REMOVED OR ABANDONED IN PLACE

EX. BERM EL. VARIES

VARIES

2.0' MIN.

VARIES

REVETMENT

OPTION #3 ROCK REVETMENT
N.T.S.

EX. LAKE SLOPE TO REMAIN

MATCH EX. GRADE

PLACE RIP-RAP BREAKWATER
AT 1:1 SLOPE

VARIES

(8' MIN.)EX. LAKE

LAKE C.E. = 19.3' NAVD8

EX. RETAINING WALL
TO BE REMOVED OR
ABANDONED IN PLACE

ROCK REVETMENT

3' MIN.

MATCH EX. GRADE

EX. GRADE

RESIDENTIAL20' MIN. MAINT. ACCESS

EX. CONC. DEADMAN
(SPACING UNKNOWN)
TO BE REMOVED OR ABANDONED IN PLACE

EX. BERM EL. VARIES

VARIES

2.0' MIN.

VARIES

OPTION #4 LIVING SHORELINE
N.T.S.

EX. LAKE SLOPE TO REMAIN

MATCH EX. GRADE

VARIES

(8' MIN.)EX. LAKE

LAKE C.E. = 19.3' NAVD8

EX. RETAINING WALL
TO BE REMOVED OR
ABANDONED IN PLACE

MATCH EX. GRADE

3'3'2'

12" Ø ROCK

APPROX. 4'

GRADED SLOPE

EX. GRADE

20' MIN. MAINT. ACCESS

CONC. DEADMAN
(SPACING UNKNOWN)

EX. BERM EL. VARIES

VARIES

2.0' MIN.

VARIES

RETAINING WALL

EX. LAKE SLOPE TO REMAIN

MATCH EX. GRADE

PLACE RIP-RAP BREAKWATER
AT 1:1 SLOPE

VARIES

(8' MIN.)EX. LAKE

OPTION #1 RESTORATION OF EX. RETAINING WALL
N.T.S.

3' MIN.

LAKE C.E. = 19.3' NAVD8

MATCH EX. GRADE

POTENTIAL STAGING AREA

Page 18



RETAINING WALL DAMAGE
±18 L.F.

RETAINING WALL DAMAGE
±73 L.F.

RETAINING WALL DAMAGE
±125 L.F.

RETAINING WALL DAMAGE
±75 L.F.

RETAINING WALL DAMAGE
±242 L.F.

RETAINING WALL DAMAGE
±40 L.F.

RETAINING WALL DAMAGE
±54 L.F.

RETAINING WALL DAMAGE
±128 L.F.

RETAINING WALL DAMAGE
±70 L.F.

RETAINING WALL DAMAGE
±76 L.F.

RETAINING WALL DAMAGE
±101 L.F.

RETAINING WALL DAMAGE
±96 L.F.

RETAINING WALL DAMAGE
±126 L.F.

RETAINING WALL DAMAGE
±173 L.F.

RETAINING WALL DAMAGE
±148 L.F.

RETAINING WALL DAMAGE
±196 L.F.

RETAINING WALL DAMAGE
±55 L.F.

RETAINING WALL DAMAGE
±80 L.F.

RETAINING WALL DAMAGE
±52 L.F.

RETAINING WALL DAMAGE
±25 L.F.

RETAINING WALL DAMAGE
±79 L.F.

RETAINING WALL DAMAGE
±66 L.F.

RETAINING WALL DAMAGE
±34 L.F.

RETAINING WALL DAMAGE
±56 L.F.

RETAINING WALL DAMAGE,
TOP CAPS MISSING

RETAINING WALL DAMAGE
±88 L.F.

RETAINING WALL DAMAGE
±90 L.F.

RETAINING WALL DAMAGE
±110 L.F.

RETAINING WALL DAMAGE
±117 L.F.

RETAINING WALL DAMAGE
±503 L.F.

RETAINING WALL DAMAGE
±74 L.F.

RETAINING WALL DAMAGE
±14 L.F.

RETAINING WALL DAMAGE
±37 L.F.

RETAINING WALL DAMAGE
±108 L.F.

PREPARED FOR

PROJECT DESCRIPTION

FILE NAME

LOCATION

PLOT DATE

23685_RETAINING-WALL-PHASING-EXHIBI

J:\23685\DWG\CDD\RET WALL CERT\

TUE. 11-5-2024 - 8:28 AM

LEE COUNTY, FLORIDA

BLUE
LAKE
CDD

BLUE LAKE
COMMUNITY

DEVELOPMENT
DISTRICT

THIS PLAN IS PRELIMINARY AND
INTENDED FOR CONCEPTUAL
PLANNING PURPOSES ONLY.

SITE LAYOUT AND LAND USE
INTENSITIES OR DENSITIES MAY
CHANGE SIGNIFICANTLY BASED
UPON SURVEY, ENGINEERING,

ENVIRONMENTAL AND / OR
REGULATORY CONSTRAINTS

AND / OR OPPORTUNITIES.

PLOT BY

CROSS REFERENCED DRAWINGS

2271 McGREGOR BLVD., SUITE 100
POST OFFICE DRAWER 2800

FORT MYERS, FLORIDA 33902-2800
PHONE (239) 461-3170

FORT MYERS | PANAMA CITY BEACH

CIVIL ENGINEERING - LAND SURVEYING
LAND PLANNING

FLORIDA CERTIFICATES OF AUTHORIZATION
ENGINEERING 7995 - SURVEYING LB-6940

ALYSSA FONTAINE

CROSS REFERENCED DRAWINGSCROSS REFERENCED DRAWINGS

C

DRAWING NOT VALID WITHOUT SEAL, SIGNATURE AND DATE

COPYRIGHT 2024, BARRACO AND ASSOCIATES, INC.
REPRODUCTION, CHANGES OR ASSIGNMENTS ARE PROHIBITED

(DRAFT) EXHIBIT FOR BOS MEETING
2024-09-10

SHEET NUMBER

PLAN REVISIONS

PLAN STATUS

PROJECT / FILE NO.

1.1

BLUE LAKE CDD
RETAINING WALL
DAMAGE EXHIBIT

23685

N

S

W E

0 100 200 400

SCALE IN FEET

BLU
E B

AY C
IR

CLE

BLUE BREEZE DRIVE

B
LU

E
 B

A
Y

 C
IR

C
LE

LEGEND:

RETAINING WALL DAMAGE

MAJOR RETAINING WALL DAMAGE
(MAY REQUIRE TEMP. STABILIZATION)

PHASE 1 AND 2

PHASE 3

POTENTIAL STAGING AREA

Page 19



RETAINING WALL DAMAGE WASH-OUT

PREPARED FOR

PROJECT DESCRIPTION

FILE NAME

LOCATION

PLOT DATE

23685_RETAINING-WALL-PHASING-EXHIBI

J:\23685\DWG\CDD\RET WALL CERT\

TUE. 11-5-2024 - 8:28 AM

LEE COUNTY, FLORIDA

BLUE
LAKE
CDD

BLUE LAKE
COMMUNITY

DEVELOPMENT
DISTRICT

THIS PLAN IS PRELIMINARY AND
INTENDED FOR CONCEPTUAL
PLANNING PURPOSES ONLY.

SITE LAYOUT AND LAND USE
INTENSITIES OR DENSITIES MAY
CHANGE SIGNIFICANTLY BASED
UPON SURVEY, ENGINEERING,

ENVIRONMENTAL AND / OR
REGULATORY CONSTRAINTS

AND / OR OPPORTUNITIES.

PLOT BY

CROSS REFERENCED DRAWINGS

2271 McGREGOR BLVD., SUITE 100
POST OFFICE DRAWER 2800

FORT MYERS, FLORIDA 33902-2800
PHONE (239) 461-3170

FORT MYERS | PANAMA CITY BEACH

CIVIL ENGINEERING - LAND SURVEYING
LAND PLANNING

FLORIDA CERTIFICATES OF AUTHORIZATION
ENGINEERING 7995 - SURVEYING LB-6940

ALYSSA FONTAINE

CROSS REFERENCED DRAWINGSCROSS REFERENCED DRAWINGS

C

DRAWING NOT VALID WITHOUT SEAL, SIGNATURE AND DATE

COPYRIGHT 2024, BARRACO AND ASSOCIATES, INC.
REPRODUCTION, CHANGES OR ASSIGNMENTS ARE PROHIBITED

(DRAFT) EXHIBIT FOR BOS MEETING
2024-09-10

SHEET NUMBER

PLAN REVISIONS

PLAN STATUS

PROJECT / FILE NO.

1.2

BLUE LAKE CDD
RETAINING WALL
DAMAGE EXHIBIT

23685

N

S

W E

0 100 200 400

SCALE IN FEET

B
LU

E
 B

A
Y

 C
IR

C
LE

B
LU

E
 B

A
Y

 C
IR

C
LE

CORKSCREW ROAD

LEGEND:

RETAINING WALL DAMAGE

MAJOR RETAINING WALL DAMAGE
(MAY REQUIRE TEMP. STABILIZATION)

PHASE 1 AND 2

PHASE 3

POTENTIAL STAGING AREA

Page 20



 
November 12, 2024 
 
 
 
 
RE: Blue Lake Community Development District 
 
 
 
The Blue Lake Community Development District is required to select an auditor to perform 
the audit for the district for the years ending September 30, 2024, September 30, 2025 
and September 30, 2026; with an option for an additional two-year renewal. 
 
In accordance with the Auditor Selection procedures as outlined by Florida Statute 
218.391, the District has established the auditor selection criteria and has placed a legal 
advertisement requesting proposals from qualified audit firms. 
 
The current auditor for the Blue Lake Community Development District is the firm of Grau 
& Associates. 
 
Grau & Associates was the only firm to respond to the legal advertisement requesting 
proposals to perform the fiscal year ending September 30, 2024, September 30, 2025 
and September 30, 2026 audits. The proposed fee for the audit for fiscal year ending 
September 30, 2024 is $3,800.00.  The proposed fee for the audit for fiscal year ending 
September 30, 2025 is $3,900.00.  The proposed fee for the audit for fiscal year ending 
September 30, 2026 audit is $4,000.00.  The proposed fee for the audit for fiscal year 
ending September 30, 2027 (option year) is $4,100.00.  And the proposed fee for the 
audit for fiscal year ending September 30, 2028 (option year) is $4,200.00. The approved 
fee for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2023 audit, which Grau & Associates has 
completed, was $4,000.00.  The proposed Audit Fee budget for Fiscal Year 2024/2025 is 
$4,100.00.   
 
Management would like to report that it is pleased with the professionalism and the 
competence of the Grau and Associates, partners and supporting staff. 
 
It is recommended at this time that Grau & Associates be hired to perform the 
September 30, 2024, September 30, 2025 and September 30, 2026 annual 
government audits and also be selected, subject to fee adjustments for inflation, 
to perform the fiscal year end audits for the following two years (FYE 9/30/27 and 
9/30/28). 
 
 
 
Special District Services, Inc. 

Page 21



Proposal to Provide
Financial Auditing

Services:

BLUE LAKE
Community Development District

Proposal Due: October 15, 2024
4:00PM

Submitted to:
Blue Lake
Community Development District
c/o SDS
2501A Burns Road
Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33410                  

Submitted by:
Antonio J. Grau, Partner
Grau & Associates
1001 Yamato Road, Suite 301
Boca Raton, Florida 33431
Tel (561) 994-9299

(800) 229-4728
Fax (561) 994-5823
tgrau@graucpa.com
www.graucpa.com

Page 22



 

    

   
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
Table of Contents 

PAGE  
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY / TRANSMITTAL LETTER .................................................................................. 1 

FIRM QUALIFICATIONS..........................................................................................................................................3 

FIRM & STAFF EXPERIENCE ............................................................................................................................. 6 

REFERENCES……………….. ................................................................................................................................ 11 

SPECIFIC AUDIT APPROACH.......................................................................................................................... 13 

COST OF SERVICES ............................................................................................................................................ 17 

SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION ................................................................................................................. 19 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 23



 
 
 

    

 
 
 
 
October 15, 2024 
 

Blue Lake Community Development District 
/o SDS 
2501A Burns Road 
Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33410   
 
Re: Request for Proposal for Professional Auditing Services for the fiscal years ended September 30, 

2024-2026, with an option for two (2) additional annual renewals. 
 

 Grau & Associates (Grau) welcomes the opportunity to respond to the Blue Lake Community Development 
District’s (the “District”) Request for Proposal (RFP), and we look forward to working with you on your 
audit. We are an energetic and robust team of knowledgeable professionals and are a recognized leader of 
providing services to Community Development Districts. As one of Florida’s few firms to primarily focus on 
government, we are especially equipped to provide you an effective and efficient audit.  

 
 Government audits are at the core of our practice: 95% of our work is performing audits for local 

governments and of that 98% are for special districts. With our significant experience, we are able to 
increase efficiency, to provide immediate and continued savings, and to minimize disturbances to your 
operations. 

 
 Why Grau & Associates: 
 

Knowledgeable Audit Team  
Grau is proud that the personnel we assign to your audit are some of the most seasoned auditors in the 
field. Our staff performs governmental engagements year-round. When not working on your audit, your 
team is refining their audit approach for next year’s audit. Our engagement partners have decades of 
experience and take a hands-on approach to our assignments, which all ensures a smoother process for 
you.  
 
Servicing your Individual Needs 
Our clients enjoy personalized service designed to satisfy their unique needs and requirements. 
Throughout the process of our audit, you will find that we welcome working with you to resolve any issues 
as swiftly and easily as possible. In addition, due to Grau’s very low turnover rate for our industry, you 
also won’t have to worry about retraining your auditors from year to year. 
 
Developing Relationships 
We strive to foster mutually beneficial relationships with our clients. We stay in touch year-round, 
updating, collaborating and assisting you in implementing new legislation, rules and standards that affect 
your organization. We are also available as a sounding board and assist with technical questions.  
 
Maintaining an Impeccable Reputation 
We have never been involved in any litigation, proceeding or received any disciplinary action. 
Additionally, we have never been charged with, or convicted of, a public entity crime of any sort. We are 
financially stable and have never been involved in any bankruptcy proceedings. 
 
 

 
 

Page 24



 

2 

Complying With Standards 
Our audit will follow the Auditing Standards of the AICPA, Generally Accepted Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, and the Rules of the Auditor General of 
the State of Florida, and any other applicable federal, state and local regulations. We will deliver our 
reports in accordance with your requirements.  

 
 This proposal is a firm and irrevocable offer for 90 days. We certify this proposal is made without previous 

understanding, agreement or connection either with any previous firms or corporations offering a proposal 
for the same items. We also certify our proposal is in all respects fair, without outside control, collusion, 
fraud, or otherwise illegal action, and was prepared in good faith. Only the person(s), company or parties 
interested in the project as principals are named in the proposal. Grau has no existing or potential conflicts, 
and anticipates no conflicts during the engagement. Our Federal I.D. number is 20-2067322. 

 
 We would be happy to answer any questions or to provide any additional information. We are genuinely 

excited about the prospect of serving you and establishing a long-term relationship. Please do not hesitate 
to call or email either of our Partners, Antonio J. Grau, CPA (tgrau@graucpa.com) or David Caplivski, CPA 
(dcaplivski@graucpa.com) at 561.994.9299. We thank you for considering our firm’s qualifications and 
experience. 

 
Very truly yours, 
Grau & Associates 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Antonio J. Grau

Page 25



3

Firm Qualifications

Page 26



4

Grau’s Focus and Experience

Properly registered and 
licensed professional 
corporation by the state 
of FLORIDA

Year founded

OOurr Team 

3
Partners

11
Professional 

Staff

2
Administrative 
Professionals

External quality review 
program: consistently 
receives a pass
Internal: ongoing 
monitoring to maintain 
quality

9
Professional

Groups

AICPA | FICPA | GFOA | FASD | FGFOA

We are proud Members of 
the AAmericann Institutee off 

CCertifiedd Publicc 
Accountants

&
the FFloridaa Institute of

Certifiedd Public
Accountants

9/15
Employees are 

CPAS

Exter
progr
recei
Inter
moni
quali

te of
c

Servicess Provided 

See next page for 
report and certificate

Page 27



 

 
5 

 
 
 

Page 28



6

Firm & Staff Experience

Page 29



7

PFM
12

GMS
78

MERITUS
23RIZZETTA

47
SDS
60

INFRAMARK
38

WRATHELL
30

OTHER
19

GRAU AND ASSOCIATES COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT EXPERIENCE 

BY MANAGEMENT COMPANY

David Caplivski, CPA 
(Partner)
Years Performing 
Audits: 13+
CPE (last 2 years): 
Government 
Accounting, Auditing: 
48 hours; Accounting, 
Auditing and Other: 
33 hours
Professional 
Memberships: AICPA, 
FICPA, FGFOA, FASD

Antonio J GRAU, CPA 
(Partner)
Years Performing 
Audits: 35+
CPE (last 2 years): 
Government 
Accounting, Auditing: 
32 hours; Accounting, 
Auditing and Other: 
58 hours
Professional 
Memberships: AICPA, 
FICPA, FGFOA, GFOA

“Here at Grau  & Associates, staying up to date with the 
current technological landscape is one of our top 
priorities. Not only does it provide a more positive 
experience for our clients, but it also allows us to perform 
a more effective and efficient audit. With the every 
changing technology available and utilized by our clients, 
we are constantly innovating our audit process.”

- Tony Grau

“Quality audits and exceptional client service are at the 
heart of every decision we make. Our clients trust us to 
deliver a quality audit, adhering to high standards and 

assisting them with improvements for their 
organization.”

- David Caplivski

Profile Briefs:

Page 30



 

 
8 

YOUR ENGAGEMENT TEAM 
 

Grau’s client-specific engagement team is meticulously organized in order to meet the unique 
needs of each client.  Constant communication within our solution team allows for continuity of 

staff and audit team. 
 
 The Certified Information 

Technology Professional 
(CITP) Partner will bring a 
unique blend of IT expertise 
and understanding of 
accounting principles to the 
financial statement audit of 
the District. 

The Engagement Partner will 
participate extensively during 
the various stages of the 
engagement and has direct 
responsibility for engagement 
policy, direction, supervision, 
quality control, security, 
confidentiality of information 
of the engagement and 
communication with client 
personnel. The engagement 
partner will also be involved 
directing the development of 
the overall audit approach 
and plan; performing an 
overriding review of work 
papers and ascertain client 
satisfaction. 

The assigned personnel will 
work closely with the partner 
and the District to ensure that 
the financial statements and all 
other reports are prepared in 
accordance with professional 
standards and firm policy. 
Responsibilities will include 
planning the audit; 
communicating with the client 
and the partners the progress 
of the audit; and 
determining that financial 
statements and all reports 
issued by the firm are accurate, 
complete and are prepared in 
accordance with professional 
standards and firm policy. 

An advisory consultant will 
be available as a sounding 
board to advise in those 
areas where problems are 
encountered.  

Your 
Successful 

Audit

Advisory 
Consultant

Engagement 
Partner

Audit 
ManagerAudit Senior

CITP Partner

Page 31



 

 
9 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Clients Served (partial list) 

 
Professional Associations/Memberships 
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants    Florida Government Finance Officers Association 
Florida Institute of Certified Public Accountants      Government Finance Officers Association Member 
City of Boca Raton Financial Advisory Board Member 

 
Professional Education (over the last two years) 

 Course     Hours 
 Government Accounting and Auditing     32 
 Accounting, Auditing and Other      58  
          Total Hours     90 (includes of 4 hours of Ethics CPE) 

 
 

(>300) Various Special Districts, including:  
 

 Bayside Improvement Community Development District 
 Dunes Community Development District 
 Fishhawk Community Development District (I, II, IV) 
 Grand Bay at Doral Community Development District 
 Heritage Harbor North Community Development District 
 

St. Lucie West Services District  
Ave Maria Stewardship Community District 
Rivers Edge II Community Development District 
Bartram Park Community Development District 
Bay Laurel Center Community Development District 

 Boca Raton Airport Authority 
 Greater Naples Fire Rescue District 
 Key Largo Wastewater Treatment District 
 Lake Worth Drainage District 
 South Indian River Water Control 

 

Antonio ‘Tony ‘J. Grau, CPA 
Partner 

Contact: tgrau@graucpa.com | (561) 939-6672 
Experience 
For over 30 years, Tony has been providing audit, accounting 
and consulting services to the firm’s governmental, non-profit, 
employee benefit, overhead and arbitrage clients. He provides 
guidance to clients regarding complex accounting issues, 
internal controls and operations.  
As a member of the Government Finance Officers Association 
Special Review Committee, Tony participated in the review 
process for awarding the GFOA Certificate of Achievement in 
Financial Reporting. Tony was also the review team leader for 
the Quality Review of the Office of Management Audits of 
School Board of Miami-Dade County. Tony received the AICPA 
advanced level certificate for governmental single audits.  
 
Education 

University of South Florida (1983) 
 Bachelor of Arts 
 Business Administration 

Page 32



 

 
10 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Certifications and Certificates 
Certified Public Accountant (2011) 
AICPA Certified Information Technology Professional (2018) 
AICPA Accreditation COSO Internal Control Certificate (2022) 
 
Clients Served (partial list) 
(>300) Various Special Districts Hispanic Human Resource Council 
Aid to Victims of Domestic Abuse Loxahatchee Groves Water Control District 
Boca Raton Airport Authority Old Plantation Water Control District 
Broward Education Foundation Pinetree Water Control District 
CareerSource Brevard San Carlos Park Fire & Rescue Retirement Plan 
CareerSource Central Florida 403 (b) Plan South Indian River Water Control District 
City of Lauderhill GERS South Trail Fire Protection & Rescue District 
City of Parkland Police Pension Fund Town of Haverhill 
City of Sunrise GERS Town of Hypoluxo 
Coquina Water Control District Town of Hillsboro Beach 
Central County Water Control District Town of Lantana 
City of Miami (program specific audits) Town of Lauderdale By-The–Sea Volunteer Fire Pension 
City of West Park Town of Pembroke Park 
Coquina Water Control District Village of Wellington 
East Central Regional Wastewater Treatment Facl. Village of Golf 
East Naples Fire Control & Rescue District  

 
Professional Education (over the last two years) 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Professional Associations 

Member, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
Member, Florida Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
Member, Florida Government Finance Officers Association 
Member, Florida Association of Special Districts 

 
  

Course Hours 
Government Accounting and Auditing 48 
Accounting, Auditing and Other  33 

Total Hours  81 (includes 4 hours of Ethics CPE) 

David Caplivski, CPA/CITP, Partner 
Contact : dcaplivski@graucpa.com / 561-939-6676 

 Experience 
Grau & Associates Partner 2021-Present 
Grau & Associates Manager 2014-2020 
Grau & Associates Senior Auditor 2013-2014 
Grau & Associates Staff Auditor 2010-2013 

 
 Education 

Florida Atlantic University (2009) 
Master of Accounting 
Nova Southeastern University (2002) 
Bachelor of Science 
Environmental Studies 

Page 33



11

References
 

Page 34



 

 
12 

We have included three references of government engagements that require compliance with laws 
and regulations, follow fund accounting, and have financing requirements, which we believe are 
similar to the District. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  

Dunes Community Development District  
Scope of Work Financial audit 
Engagement Partner Antonio J. Grau 
Dates Annually since 1998 
Client Contact Darrin Mossing, Finance Director 

475 W. Town Place, Suite 114 
St. Augustine, Florida 32092 
904-940-5850 

Two Creeks Community Development District 
Scope of Work Financial audit 
Engagement Partner Antonio J. Grau 
Dates Annually since 2007 
Client Contact William Rizzetta, President 

3434 Colwell Avenue, Suite 200 
Tampa, Florida 33614 
813-933-5571 

Journey’s End Community Development District 
Scope of Work Financial audit 
Engagement Partner Antonio J. Grau 
Dates Annually since 2004 
Client Contact Todd Wodraska, Vice President 

2501 A Burns Road 
Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33410 
561-630-4922 

Page 35



13

 

Specific Audit 
Approach

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 36



14

AUDIT APPROACH

Grau’s Understanding of Work Product / Scope of Services:
We recognize the District is an important entity and we are confident our firm is eminently qualified 
to meet the challenges of this engagement and deliver quality audit services. You would be a valued 
client of our firm and we pledge to commit all firm resources to provide the level and quality of 
services (as described below) which not only meet the requirements set forth in the RFP but will
exceed those expectations. Grau & Associates fully understands the scope of professional services and 
work products requested. Our audit will follow the Auditing Standards of the AICPA, Generally 
Accepted Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, and 
the Rules of the Auditor General of the State of Florida and any other applicable Federal, State of Local 
regulations. We will deliver our reports in accordance with your requirements. 

Proposed segmentation of the engagement
Our approach to the audit engagement is a risk-based approach which integrates the best of traditional 
auditing techniques and a total systems concept to enable the team to conduct a more efficient and 
effective audit. The audit will be conducted in three phases, which are as follows:

Phase I - Preliminary Planning

A thorough understanding of your organization, service objectives and operating environment is 
essential for the development of an audit plan and for an efficient, cost-effective audit.  During this 
phase, we will meet with appropriate personnel to obtain and document our understanding of your 
operations and service objectives and, at the same time, give you the opportunity to express your 
expectations with respect to the services that we will provide.  Our work effort will be coordinated so 
that there will be minimal disruption to your staff. 

During this phase we will perform the following activities:
» Review the regulatory, statutory and compliance requirements. This will include a review of 

applicable federal and state statutes, resolutions, bond documents, contracts, and other 
agreements;

» Read minutes of meetings;
» Review major sources of information such as budgets, organization charts, procedures, 

manuals, financial systems, and management information systems;
» Obtain an understanding of fraud detection and prevention systems;
» Obtain and document an understanding of internal control, including knowledge about the 

design of relevant policies, procedures, and records, and whether they have been placed in 
operation;  

» Assess risk and determine what controls we are to rely upon and what tests we are going to 
perform and perform test of controls;

» Develop audit programs to incorporate the consideration of financial statement assertions, 
specific audit objectives, and appropriate audit procedures to achieve the specified objectives;

» Discuss and resolve any accounting, auditing and reporting matters which have been 
identified.

PHASE III:
Completion and 

Delivery

PHASE II:
Execution of the 

Audit Plan

PHASE I:
Preliminary 

Planning

Page 37



 

 
15 

Phase II – Execution of Audit Plan 
 

The audit team will complete a major portion of transaction testing and audit requirements during this 
phase.  The procedures performed during this period will enable us to identify any matter that may 
impact the completion of our work or require the attention of management.  Tasks to be performed in 
Phase II include, but are not limited to the following: 

» Apply analytical procedures to further assist in the determination of the nature, timing, and 
extent of auditing procedures used to obtain evidential matter for specific account balances or 
classes of transactions; 

» Perform tests of account balances and transactions through sampling, vouching, confirmation 
and other analytical procedures; and 

» Perform tests of compliance. 
 
Phase III - Completion and Delivery 

 
In this phase of the audit, we will complete the tasks related to year-end balances and financial 
reporting. All reports will be reviewed with management before issuance, and the partners will be 
available to meet and discuss our report and address any questions. Tasks to be performed in Phase 
III include, but are not limited to the following: 

 
» Perform final analytical procedures; 
» Review information and make inquiries for subsequent events; and 
» Meeting with Management to discuss preparation of draft financial statements and any 

potential findings or recommendations. 
 

You should expect more from your accounting firm than a signature in your annual financial report. 
Our concept of truly responsive professional service emphasizes taking an active interest in the issues 
of concern to our clients and serving as an effective resource in dealing with those issues. In following 
this approach, we not only audit financial information with hindsight but also consider the foresight 
you apply in managing operations. 
 
Application of this approach in developing our management letter is particularly important given the 
increasing financial pressures and public scrutiny facing today’s public officials.  We will prepare the 
management letter at the completion of our final procedures. 

 
In preparing this management letter, we will initially review any draft comments or recommendations 
with management. In addition, we will take necessary steps to ensure that matters are communicated 
to those charged with governance. 
 
In addition to communicating any recommendations, we will also communicate the following, if any: 
 

» Significant audit adjustments; 
» Significant deficiencies or material weaknesses; 
» Disagreements with management; and 
» Difficulties encountered in performing the audit. 

  

Page 38



 

 
16 

Our findings will contain a statement of condition describing the situation and the area that needs 
strengthening, what should be corrected and why. Our suggestions will withstand the basic tests of 
corrective action: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
To assure full agreement with facts and circumstances, we will fully discuss each item with 
Management prior to the final exit conference. This policy means there will be no “surprises” in the 
management letter and fosters a professional, cooperative atmosphere. 
 
Communications 
We emphasize a continuous, year-round dialogue between the District and our management team. We 
regularly communicate through personal telephone calls and electronic mail throughout the audit and 
on a regular basis.  
 
Our clients have the ability to transmit information to us on our secure client portal with the ability to 
assign different staff with separate log on and viewing capability.  This further facilitates efficiency as 
all assigned users receive electronic mail notification as soon as new information has been posted into 
the portal.    
 
 

Is the recommendation cost effective? 
 
Is the recommendation the simplest to effectuate in 
order to correct a problem? 
 
Is the recommendation at the heart of the problem 
and not just correcting a symptomatic matter? 
 
Is the corrective action taking into account why the 
deficiency occurred? 

Page 39



17

Cost of Services
 

Page 40



 

 
18 

Our proposed all-inclusive fees for the financial audit for the fiscal years ended September 30, 
2024-2028 are as follows: 
 

Year Ended September 30,  Fee 

2024  $3,800 

2025  $3,900 

2026  $4,000 

2027  $4,100 

2028  $4,200 

TOTAL (2024-2028)  $20,000 
 
The above fees are based on the assumption that the District maintains its current level of 
operations. Should conditions change or additional debt is issued the fees would be adjusted 
accordingly upon approval from all parties concerned. 

 

Page 41



19

Supplemental Information
 

Page 42



20

PARTIAL LIST OF CLIENTS

G
ov

er
n

m
e

n
ta

l 
A

u
d

it

S
in

g
le

 A
u

d
it

U
ti

li
ty

 A
u

d
it

C
u

rr
en

t 
C

li
en

t

Y
ea

r 
E

n
d

Boca Raton Airport Authority 9/30

Captain's Key Dependent District 9/30

Central Broward Water Control District 9/30

Collier Mosquito Control District 9/30

Coquina Water Control District 9/30

East Central Regional Wastewater Treatment Facility 9/30

Florida Green Finance Authority 9/30

Greater Boca Raton Beach and Park District 9/30

Greater Naples Fire Control and Rescue District 9/30

Green Corridor P.A.C.E. District 9/30

Hobe-St. Lucie Conservancy District  9/30

Indian River Farms Water Control District 9/30

Indian River Mosquito Control District 9/30

Indian Trail Improvement District 9/30

Key Largo Wastewater Treatment District 9/30

Lake Asbury Municipal Service Benefit District 9/30

Lake Padgett Estates Independent District 9/30

Lake Worth Drainage District 9/30

Lealman Special Fire Control District 9/30

Loxahatchee Groves Water Control District 9/30

Old Plantation Water Control District 9/30

Pal Mar Water Control District 9/30

Pinellas Park Water Management District 9/30

Pine Tree Water Control District (Broward) 9/30

Pinetree Water Control District (Wellington) 9/30

Port of The Islands Community Improvement District 9/30

Ranger Drainage District 9/30

Renaissance Improvement District 9/30

San Carlos Park Fire Protection and Rescue Service District 9/30

Sanibel Fire and Rescue District 9/30

South Central Regional Wastewater Treatment and Disposal Board 9/30

South Indian River Water Control District 9/30

South Trail Fire Protection & Rescue District 9/30

Spring Lake Improvement District 9/30

St. Lucie West Services District 9/30

Sunrise Lakes Phase IV Recreation District 9/30

Sunshine Water Control District 9/30

Sunny Hills Units 12-15 Dependent District 9/30

West Villages Improvement District 9/30

Various Community Development Districts (452) 9/30

TOTAL 491 5 4 484

Page 43



 

 
21 

ADDITIONAL SERVICES 
 

CONSULTING / MANAGEMENT ADVISORY SERVICES 
 
Grau & Associates also provide a broad range of other management consulting services.  Our 
expertise has been consistently utilized by Governmental and Non-Profit entities throughout 
Florida.  Examples of engagements performed are as follows: 
 
 Accounting systems 
 Development of budgets 
 Organizational structures 
 Financing alternatives 
 IT Auditing 

 

 Fixed asset records 
 Cost reimbursement  
 Indirect cost allocation 
 Grant administration and compliance 

 

 
ARBITRAGE 

 
The federal government has imposed complex rules to restrict the use 
of tax-exempt financing. Their principal purpose is to eliminate any 
significant arbitrage incentives in a tax-exempt issue. We have 
determined the applicability of these requirements and performed the 
rebate calculations for more than 150 bond issues, including both 
fixed and variable rate bonds.  
 
 

We look forward to providing Blue Lake Community Development District 
with our resources and experience to accomplish not only those minimum 
requirements set forth in your Request for Proposal, but to exceed those 
expectations! 

 
 

For even more information on Grau & Associates  
please visit us on www.graucpa.com. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Current 
Arbitrage 
Calculations 

73 

Page 44



Blue Lake
Community Development District

   Financial Report For
 September 2024

Page 45



Page 46



Page 47



Page 48



Page 49



Page 50



Page 51



Page 52



Page 53



Page 54



Page 55



Page 56



Page 57



Page 58


	Blue Lake Community Development District - November 12, 2024 Regular Board Meeting Book
	Agenda
	Proof of Publication
	September 10, 2024 Regular Board Meeting Minutes
	Consider Resolution No. 2024-09 – Adopting a Fiscal Year 2023/2024 Amended Budget
	Ranking of Proposals/Consider Selection of an Auditor
	Financials
	Ratification of Taylor Engineering Engagement and Retainer




